In The Supreme Court Of The State Of Mississippi

No. 2010-CP-01886-COA

Corey Parker

Vs.

State Of Mississippi

FILED

JAN -6 2011

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS Appellant

Appellee

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Jones County, Mississippi

Brief Of Appellant

Corey Parker # 38570

Pro se, Appellant

Jefferson/Franklin Corr. Fac.

279 Hwy. 33

Fayette, MS. 39069

In The Supreme Court Of The State Of Mississippi

No. 2010-CP-01886-COA

Corey Parker

Appellant

Vs.

State Of Mississippi

Appellee

Certificate Of Interested Persons

Statement of the issues
Statement of the case
A. Statement of the facts2
B. Procedural History2
Summary of the argument3-4
Argument5-8
I. An illegal sentence can not be Time Barred Pursuant to State Law clearly
established by The Supreme Court of the State Of Mississippi5
II. The Trial Court erred in sentencing Appellant contrary to the language and or
statutory guidelines of The Statute by which He was indicted5-8
Conclusion9
Certificate of Service

Table Of Authorities

Cases Page (s)
1. Carter V. Harrison County Election Comm'n, 183 So. 2d 630 (Miss. 1966)7
2. Mississippi Casino Operators Ass'n V. Miss. Gaming Comm'n, 654 So. 2d 892, 894 (Miss. 1995)
3. Buelow V. Kemp Co., 641 So. 2d 1226, 1228-29 (Miss.1994)6
4. Anderson V. Lambert, 494 So. 2d 370, 372 (Miss. 1986)
5. Franklin V. Franklin Exrel., Phillips, 858 So. 2d 110 (Miss. 2003)6
6. Planters Bank & Trust Co. V. Sklar, 555 So. 2d 1024, 1027 (Miss. 1990)6
7. Beard V. Stanley, 205 Miss. 723, 39 So. 2d 317 (1949)
8. City of Natchez V. Sullivan, 612 So. 2d 1087, 1089 (Miss. 1992)7
9. Baker V. State, 327 So. 2d 288 (Miss. 1976)7
10. Cavinss V. State, 1 So. 3d 917 (Miss. App. 2008)5
11. Ivy V. State, 731 So. 2d 601, 602 (Miss. 1999)5
12. Miller V. State, 879 So. 2d 1050, 1051 (Miss. 2004)5
13. Murphy V. State, 253 Miss. 644, 649, 178 So. 2d 692 (1965)6
14. Necaise V. State, 771 So. 2d 353 (Miss. 2000)6
15. Rowland V. State, No. 2008-CT-00731-SCT. July 29, 20105
16. Stockstill V. State, 854 So. 2d 1017 (Miss. 2003)7
State Statute
Miss, Code § 97-3-792-3, 5

Statement Of The Issues

- 1. Can an illegal sentence be Time Barred Pursuant to State Law clearly established by

 The Supreme Court of The State of Mississippi?
- 2. Did the Trial Court erred in sentencing Appellant contrary to the language and or Statutory Guidelines of the statute by which He was indicted?

Statement Of The Case

A. Statement of the Facts

Corey Parker acting alone robbed three fast food establishments of currency.

B. Procedural History

The Appellant, Corey Parker, was indicted by the Jones County, Mississippi Grand Jury on or about January 8, 1995, for the charge of Armed Robbery in violation of Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-79, as amended.

Appellant submitted a petition in The Trial Court to enter a plea of guilty, and thereby was sentenced by The Trial Court to serve a term of Twenty (20) years in The Mississippi Department of Corrections. From the aforesaid facts and or Procedural History, Appellant Corey Parker has Perfected this Appeal.

Summary Of The Argument

Appellant Corey Parker urges this Court to reverse his conviction and sentence in the Court below and set forth several separate and distinct grounds requiring reversal.

Though the record (Hereto Attached) indicates that the Appellant Corey Parker understood the impact of entering plea of guilty to the charge of Armed Robbery, and The Trial Court found that He knowingly and intelligently entered said plea. The sentence however, Pursuant to the Legislative enactment and language expressed in Miss. Code Ann.§ 97-3 79, the statute by which the Appellant was sentenced exceed the maximum term allowed by law.

The Appellant submits that He did not challenge the Constitutionality of His guilty plea, He only challenged the illegal sentence imposed on Him as a result of said plea. The language enacted in the statute by which Appellant was indicted speaks plainly in that it clearly sates that the Appellant "Shall be guilty of Robbery", which under Mississippi Law carries a term not more than fifteen (15) years. Also, under Mississippi Law a basic tent of statutory construction is that "SHALL" is mandatory. Therefore, if said language should be change to mean anything other than the basic tent of the statute, such change can only be done by legislative authority and not by Judicial Pronouncement.

The Trial Court's contention seems to be that Appellant understood the terms of His guilty plea. That however, is not the crux of Appellant's argument, the argument here is that the Trial Court when accepting Appellant's guilty plea did not adhere to the mandatory language expressed in the statute by which Appellant was indicted. Thereby, dispensing as it did with the basic tent of the statute, and sentenced the Appellant beyond the maximum term authorized by Law. Appellant therefore urges reversal of His sentence and conviction in the Court below.

Argument

I. There are no Procedural or Time Bars Applicable to Appellant's case.

It is well settled and consistently held by this Court that, a claim that the Defendant is serving an illegal sentence is not subject to the three-year statutory Time Bar for filing a Motion for Post-Conviction relief because errors affecting a fundamental constitutional right are excepted from the three-year statutory Time Bar. See, <u>Caviness V. State</u>, 1 So. 3d 917 (Miss. App. 2008); <u>Miller V. State</u>, 879 So. 2d 1050, 1051 (Miss. 2004) (Citing <u>Ivy V. State</u>, 731 So. 601, 602 (Miss. 1999).

The aforesaid authority and adherence has just been recently affirmed by this Court in **Rowland V. State**, No. 2008-CT-00731-sct. July 29, 2010, where The Court unequivocally held that errors affecting Fundamental Constitutional Rights are excepted from the Procedural Bars of (**Upccra**). Therefore, the foregoing issue is properly before The Court as a question of Law, and should be given **de novo** review.

II. The mandatory language enacted by the legislature in Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-79, the statute by which Appellant was indicted gives Appellant the Constitutional Right to a sentence of not more than fifteen (15) years.

To begin with Appellant would present the language in Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-79, the statute by which He was indicted:

Every person who shall feloniously take or attempt to take from the person or from the presence the personal property of another and against his will by violence to his person by the exhibition of a deadly weapon **Shall be guilty of Robbery** and, upon conviction, shall be imprisoned for Life in the State Penitentiary if the penalty is so fixed by the Jury; and in cases where the Jury fails to fix the Penalty at imprisonment for Life in The State Penitentiary the Court shall fix the penalty at imprisonment in the State Penitentiary for any term not less than three (3) years.

Prior to and since Appellant's sentence and conviction this Court has consistently held that a basic tent of statutory construction is that "Shall" is mandatory and "May" is discretionary. Franklin V. Franklin Exrel., Phillips, 858 So. 2d 110 (Miss. 2003)

(Citing Planters Bank & Trust Co. V. Sklar, 555 So. 2d 1024, 1027 (Miss. 1990), Murphy V. State, 253 Miss. 644, 649, 178 So. 2d 692 (1965). In specific terms, the language Shall be guilty of Robbery enacted in the Statute by which Appellant was indicted, creates for the Appellant a due process entitlement, which in this case would be the term of sentence authorized for Robbery as clearly established by Mississippi Law. 1

1. Robbery; Penalty § 97-3-73

Every Person convicted of Robbery **Shall** be punished by Imprisonment in the Penitentiary for a term not more than fifteen years.

Therefore, it is unarguably clear that pursuant to Statutory Law, the language of a Statute is controlling, and that language should be attributed a usual and ordinary meaning. See, Necaise V. State, 771 So. 2d 353 (Miss. 2000); Mississippi Casino Operators Ass'n V. Miss. Gaming Comm'n, 654 So.2d 892, 894 (Miss. 1995); Buelow V. Kemp Co., 641 So. 2d 1226, 1228-29 (Miss. 1994). A plain reading of the Statute sub Judice is "Shall be guilty of Robbery." Where a Statute is clear and unambiguous, no further statutory construction is necessary and the statute should be given its plain meaning. City of Natchez V. Sullivan, 612 So. 2d 1087, 1089 (Miss. 1992). The enacted Statute by which the Appellant was indicted here speaks plainly, The Appellant "Shall be guilty of Robbery", the Penalty of which is a term not more than fifteen (15) years.

The Appellant would humbly note and/or Appeal to the Court that if for whatever reason the language expressed in the Statute by which the Appellant was indicted should be changed to mean anything other than what it plainly states, such change can only be done by Legislative Authority and not by Judicial Pronouncement. The role of the Courts in determining the Legislative intent and constitutionality of acts passed by the Legislature are well settled. **Stockstill V. State**, 854 So. 2d 1017 (Miss. 2003); **Anderson V. Lambert**, 494 So.2d 370, 372 (Miss. 1986) (Citing **Baker V. State**, 327 So. 2d 288 (Miss. 1976); **Carter V. Harrison County Election Comm'n**, 183 So. 2d 630 (Miss. 1966); **Beard V. Stanley**, 205 Miss. 723, 39 So. 2d 317 (1949).

Wrenched from the aforesaid authority and incorporated into the dominant requirements of due process, and there exist no Law that supercede the plain language of a Statue or exclude the Basic Tent thereof.

Therefore, it is plainly clear that the Twenty (20) year sentence imposed on the Appellant by the Trial Court superceded the plain language and/or authorization of The Statute for Robbery, which is fifteen years under Mississippi Law. Again if the language in said Statute should be changed to mean anything other than Shall be guilty of Robbery, such change or correction can only be done by Legislative Authority and not by Judicial Pronouncement. In short, The Trial Court in sentencing the Appellant was bound by the plain language of the Statute so enacted and worded by the Legislature, and not by presumption.

The error in this case was such that Appellant was denied a Fundamental Constitutional Right to a Legal sentence authorized by Law. Accordingly, the sentence and conviction thereby imposed must be reversed.

Conclusion

Appellant Corey Parker was given a sentence that could not have been just. For the reasons and authority herein above stated, Appellant respectfully submits that his conviction in the Court below must be reversed, and the sentence imposed by that Court vacated.