# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## **COREY PARKER**

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CP-1886-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

# **APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

### JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this appeal from his quest in a state trial court for time-barred post-conviction relief sought in the wake of his guilty plea in 1995 to a charge of armed robbery, COREY PARKER, proceeding *pro se*, seeks to exempt himself from the time bar based upon exceptions found in §99-39-5 MCA (1992), as well as the judicially created exception mentioned in **Trotter v. State**, 907 So.2d 397, 402 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005). *See* Brief of Appellant at 5, 8, where Parker thrice mentions a violation of "fundamental constitutional rights."

The "fundamental rights" exception relied upon by Parker targets what he claims is an illegal sentence imposed in the wake of a voluntary plea. (Brief of Appellant at pp. 5-8)

Parker seeks vacation of his conviction and the twenty (20) year sentence imposed after pleading guilty to *armed* robbery in violation of Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-79. We assume Parker desires immediate release.

Regrettably, Parker's sentence was not illegal, and his claims are time barred.

1

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

More than fifteen (15) years ago, on April 6, 1995, Corey Parker, following plea negotiations, entered a voluntary plea of guilty to armed robbery. (C.P. at 8) The circuit judge accepted the recommendation of the prosecutor and sentenced Parker to serve twenty (20) years in the custody of the MDOC with the service of the first ten (10) years to be served "... without benefit of good time, earned time, early release or parole." (C.P. at 8)

Fast forward fifteen (15) years.

On September 1, 2010, Parker filed, *pro se*, a pleading styled "Motion to Vacate and or Set Aside Sentence and Conviction." (C.P. at 3-6)

Parker claimed therein the circuit judge misadvised him with respect to the penalty for "robbery" which, by virtue of Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-75, is a term not more than fifteen (15) years.

On November 10, 2010, Judge Landrum, treating Parker's pleading as a motion for postconviction collateral relief, summarily denied Parker's motion on the ground it was time barred and manifestly without merit as well.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

"The burden of proving that no procedural bar exists falls squarely on the petitioner." Crawford v. State, 867 So.2d 196, 202 (Miss. 2003).

Parker's post-conviction claims were clearly time-barred by virtue of Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-5(2). Steward v. State, 18 So.3d 895 Ct.App.Miss. 2009); Stroud v. State, 978 So.2d 1280 (Ct.App.Miss. 2008); Bester v. State, 976 So.2d 939 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), reh denied, cert denied 977 So.2d 343 (2007); Little v. State, 918 So.2d 97 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006); Trotter v. State, 907 So.2d 397 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005); Sones v. State, 828 So.2d 216 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002).

The fundamental rights exemption provides no basis for any relief grounded upon a denial

of due process or upon any other constitutional or statutory grounds. Parker's sentence was not illegal. If it was not illegal, his claim is time-barred. Contrary to his claim of a violation of due process (C.P. at 14), Parker received all the process he was due.

#### ARGUMENT

# PARKER'S POST-PLEA MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF FILED IN 2010 AND BASED UPON AN ALLEGEDLY INVOLUNTARY GUILTY PLEA AND ILLEGAL SENTENCE ENTERED IN 1995, WAS TIME-BARRED BY VIRTUE OF THE THREE (3) YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS SET FORTH IN SECTION 99-39-5(2).

## IT WAS MANIFESTLY WITHOUT MERIT AS WELL.

Parker states in his brief that he, "... acting alone[,] robbed three fast food establishments of currency." Parker admits that in 1995 he was indicted for armed robbery in violation of Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-79 and subsequently entered a guilty plea to that offense. (Brief of Appellant at 2)

That should pretty well settle Parker's present complain. The penalty for armed robbery, if a jury fails to fix the punishment at imprisonment for life, is for any term not less than three (3) years. Parker was sentenced to twenty (20) years. Obviously, that is not an illegal sentence.

The record in this cause, much like the cupboard of old mother Hubbard, is bare, consisting only of Parker's motion to vacate, a brief in support thereof, and the order of the lower court denying the request for post-conviction relief. A transcript of the plea-qualification hearing is not included in the record.

No matter.

Parker points to the fact the very statute under which he entered his guilty plea - Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-79 - declares that a person guilty of robbing another by putting him in fear by the exhibition of a deadly weapon "shall be guilty of robbery."

In either a novel or disingenuous argument, Parker argues that the word "shall" in Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-79, is considered "mandatory," and the penalty for "robbery" is only fifteen (15) years. Therefore, says Parker he was misadvised as to the duration of his possible sentence, and the twenty (20) year sentence imposed is illegal because it is five (5) years too long. According to Parker, Judge Landrum failed to adhere to the mandatory language of the statute which required him to sentence Parker to not more than fifteen (15) years, the penalty for "robbery."

The problem with this argument is that Parker did not enter a guilty plea to "strong-arm" robbery proscribed by Miss.Code Ann. §97-3-73; rather, he entered a guilty plea to "robbery" with a firearm defined in Miss.Code Ann. §99-3-79 which, according to the plain language of the statute, is punishable by life imprisonment if so fixed by the jury but, if not, for any term not less than three (3) years.

The sentencing order reflects quite clearly that Parker, "[a]fter a thorough examination . . . as to his understanding of all of his trial and constitutional rights . . ." entered a guilty plea to a charge of *armed* robbery. (C.P. at 7) Parker concedes as much in his brief at page 3.

Parker seeks to take advantage of the following language found in §97-3-79:

Every person who shall feloniously take or attempt to take from the person or from the presence the personal property of another and against his will by violence to his person or by putting such person in fear of immediate injury to his person by the exhibition of a deadly weapon shall be *guilty of robbery*, ... [emphasis ours]

Since the penalty for "robbery" by virtue of §97-3-75 is a term of imprisonment not more than fifteen (15) years, Parker concludes he was misadvised and illegally sentenced to twenty (20) years. Obviously, he is wrong.

Parker overlooks the fact that both §97-3-73 and 97-3-79 use the word "robbery" to describe

the crime, whether with or without a putting in fear by the display of a deadly weapon. There are two forms of "robbery." One is strong-arm "robbery," the other is armed "robbery." Although we give him credit for a new and unusual argument, Parker is simply playing a meaningless game with words.

Judge Landrum correctly treated Parker's papers as a motion for post-conviction collateral relief filed under the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act, Miss.Code Ann. §§ 99-39-1 *et. seq. See* **Grubb v. State,** 584 So.2d 786 (Miss. 1991).

Judge Landrum dismissed summarily Parker's motion to vacate on the basis of a time bar and found it manifestly without merit as well. (C.P. at 18; appellee's exhibit <u>A</u>, attached) Specifically, he found that Parker's " $\dots$  [s]aid [m]otion was filed well after the statute of limitations for filing said motion had run [and [i]n addition, [p]etitioner's submission has no merit and should be denied." (C.P. at 18)

Stated differently, Judge Landrum found that Parker's motion to vacate was time-barred. It was.

Admittedly, this Court has said that "[a] claim that the defendant is serving an illegal sentence is not subject to the time bar 'because errors affecting fundamental constitutional rights are excepted from the time bar .' " **Caviness v. State,** 1 So.3d 917, 918 (¶9) (Ct.App.Miss. 2008)

Circumvention of the time bar by prisoners claiming an illegal sentence is only possible where the sentence is, in fact, illegal. If that is the posture of the sentence, the time bar will not be held to bar the issue from review. If, on the other hand, the allegation of an illegal sentence is frivolous, devoid of merit on its face, or fails to state a claim *prima facie*, there should be no requirement for a trial or appellate court to specifically address the allegation. To hold otherwise is to say that any prisoner can file from now until doomsday a post-conviction paper claiming his sentence was illegal and clutter the courts with unnecessary litigation.

Here and now Parker invites this Court to reverse the trial judge's summary dismissal and vacate and/or set aside his twenty (20) year sentence and perhaps even set him free. (Brief of Appellant at 9)

We respectfully submit Judge Landrum found, although implicitly, no plain error or error involving fundamental rights, or any other rights, sufficient to exempt Parker from the statute barring his belated claims. In this posture, Parker's motion for post-conviction relief was correctly denied by the lower court as time-barred and manifestly without merit as well. (C.P. at 18; appellee's exhibit A, attached) This ruling was both judicious and correct.

Post-conviction relief claims based on allegedly involuntary guilty pleas are subject to the three (3) year statute of limitations and the time bar. Luckett v. State, 582 So.2d 428 (Miss. 1991); Wallace v. State, 823 So.2d 580 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002). See also Austin v. State, 863 So.2d 59 (Ct.App.Miss. 2003), reh denied [Claim that defendant's guilty plea to rape was not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary was the type of claim that fell squarely within the three-year statute of limitations governing post-conviction relief.]

The same should be true to no less extent when only the sentence imposed is assailed in a post-conviction environment. **Owens v. State,** 17 So.3d 628 (Ct.App.Miss. 2009). The argument made by Parker in the case *sub judice* does not fall within the exceptions to the three (3) year statute of limitations.

Time bar notwithstanding there is no merit to Parker's claim(s) which are without merit on their face.

No fundamental rights have been implicated by Parker's claim his sentence was illegal and therefore his guilty plea involuntary. Parker was not misadvised with respect to the duration of his sentence which was a term of years not less than three (3) years but reasonably expected to be less than life.

Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-5(2) identifies, in plain and ordinary English, the time limitations for motions to vacate guilty pleas, judgments of conviction obtained other than by plea, and erroneous sentences filed under the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act. It reads as follows:

(2)A motion for relief under this chapter shall be made within three (3) years after the time in which the prisoner's direct appeal is ruled upon by the supreme court of Mississippi or, in case no appeal is taken, within three (3) years after the time for taking an appeal from the judgment of conviction or sentence has expired, or in case of a guilty plea, within three (3) years after entry of the judgment of conviction. Excepted from this three-year statute of limitations are those cases in which the prisoner can demonstrate either that there has been an intervening decision of the supreme court of either the state of Mississippi or the United States which would have actually adversely affected the outcome of his conviction or sentence or that he has evidence, not reasonably discoverable at the time of trial, which is of such nature that it would be practically conclusive that had such been introduced at trial it would have caused a different result in the conviction or sentence. Likewise excepted are those cases in which the prisoner claims that his sentence has expired or his probation, parole or conditional release has been unlawfully revoked. [emphasis supplied]

The post-conviction relief act applies prospectively from its date of enactment, April 17,

1984. Individuals such as Corey Parker who entered pleas of guilty or were otherwise convicted *after* April 17, 1984, have three (3) years from the date of the entry of their conviction via guilty plea to file their petition for post-conviction relief. Lockett v. State, 656 So.2d 68, 71 (Miss. 1995); Lockett v. State, 656 So.2d 76, 78-79 (Miss. 1995); Freelon v. State, 569 So.2d 1168, 1169 (Miss. 1990); Jackson v. State, 506 So.2d 994, 995 (Miss. 1987); Odom v. State, 483 So.2d 343, 344 (Miss. 1986).

In **Odom**, *supra*, we find the following language:

\* \* \* \* \* This act applies *prospectively* from its date of enactment, April 17, 1984. Individuals convicted prior to April 17, 1984, have three (3) years from April 17, 1984, to file their petition for post conviction relief. Those individuals convicted after April 17, 1984, generally have three (3) years in which to file a petition for relief as provided for in the UPCCRA, Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-5(2) (Supp. 1985), ... [emphasis supplied]

Parker entered his plea of guilty to armed robbery on April 6, 1995, well *after* the enactment on April 17, 1984, of the Mississippi Uniform Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act (UPCCRA), Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-1 *et seq.* (C.P. at 7-8) Pursuant to a recommendation by the State, Parker was sentenced to serve twenty (20) years for the robbery with a firearm, with the first ten (10) years of said sentence to be served day-for-day without the benefit of probation or parole or good time, earned time or early release. (C.P. at 7-8)

It is no secret that Parker had three (3) years from April 6, 1996, the date of the entry of the judgment of conviction for attempted armed robbery, to file in the trial court his motion for post-conviction collateral relief.

Consequently, the deadline for filing Parker's post-conviction papers was on or about April 6, 1998.

Parker's motion for post-conviction relief was not filed, however, until on or about September 1, 2010, over a dozen years after the time for assailing his conviction and sentence following guilty plea had expired. This was excruciatingly tardy and too little too late. The old adage that "it's better late than never," once again, does not apply here.

The post-conviction relief act provided Parker with a statutory procedure for assailing his conviction and sentence within a reasonable time. Parker, however, missed the window of opportunity by twelve (12) years.

The three year statute of limitations bars a post-conviction relief motion absent a showing the case falls within any one of the three statutory exceptions [**Phillips v. State**, 856 So.2d 568 (Ct.App.Miss. 2003)] or the judicially created fundamental rights exception talked about in **Trotter v. State**, 907 So.2d 397, 402 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005).

We concur with the finding made implicitly by the trial judge that the case at bar clearly does

not exist in this posture. See appellee's exhibit A, attached.

In the final analysis, none of the exceptions, statutory or judicially created, to the time bar, which is alive and well, apply to this case. The findings and conclusions made by Judge Landrum in his order denying relief were eminently correct and not clearly erroneous.

Miss.Code Ann. § 99-39-11 (Supp. 1999) reads, in its entirety, as follows:

(1) The original motion together with all the files, records, transcripts and correspondence relating to the judgment under attack, shall be examined promptly by the judge to whom it is assigned.

(2) If it plainly appears from the face of the motion, any annexed exhibits and the prior proceedings in the case that the movant is not entitled to any relief, the judge may make an order for its dismissal and cause the prisoner to be notified.

(3) If the motion is not dismissed under subsection 2 of this section, the judge shall order the state to file an answer or other pleading within the period of time fixed by the court or to take such other action as the judge deems appropriate.

(4) This section shall not be applicable where an application for leave to proceed is granted by the supreme court under section 99-39-27. [emphasis added]

It does. He did. And he was.

Parker's belated claims were time-barred. They were manifestly without merit as well.

#### CONCLUSION

"This Court reviews the denial of post-conviction relief under an abuse of discretion standard." **Phillips v. State, 856** So.2d 568, 570 (Ct.App.Miss. 2003). No abuse of judicial discretion has been demonstrated here.

Parker is time barred from bringing his post-conviction claim at this late date. He failed to file his motion for post-conviction relief within the three-year time frame prescribed by Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-5(2), and he fails to make a claim falling under any of the recognized exceptions to the statutory time bar.

Appellee respectfully submits this case is devoid of error. Accordingly, summary dismissal, as either time-barred or plainly without merit, of Parker's post-conviction motion for post-conviction relief should be forthwith affirmed.